1953

# Trade Commission of Utah, Utah Retail Grocers Association and George Ingalls v. James L. Bush : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For more than fifty years, The Sperry and Hutchinson Company has made available to retail merchants throughout the United States a system which enables them to allow the equivalent of a cash discount on small as well as large purchases (R. 173-174). There is no coin small enough to provide for discounts on purchases under 50¢. The equivalent can be accomplished, however, through the use of stamps which serve as tokens.

Under the S. & H. contract, retail merchants are licensed to make use of the S. & H. Co-operative Cash Discount System by issuing S. & H. Co-operative Discount Stamps to customers who pay in cash or, in any event, on or before the 15th proximo. The purpose stated in the contract is to make available to the merchant "a Co-operative Cash Discount System whereby there may be offered to retail customers a cash discount on all cash payments, irrespective of their amount, thereby inviting and rewarding cash or prompt payment for goods sold, decreasing the merchant's losses from slow or bad accounts and attracting and greatly increasing the volume of his cash trade" (Pltfs'. Ex. "A").

As the system operates, the licensee issues to the customer one stamp, as a token or symbol of a discount, for each ten cents paid in cash. These stamps are supplied by The Sperry and Hutchinson Company and are pasted in books provided for that purpose by The Sperry and Hutchinson Company. Both the stamps and the books remain the property of the Company (Deft's. Ex. 2). When the customer has accumulated 1200 of the stamps, or sooner at the customer's request, the Company redeems them either in merchandise or cash (R. 175-176).

To provide the stamps the retail merchant pays The Sperry and Hutchinson Company \$15 a pad (Pltfs'. Ex. "A"). They represent for the customer a discount of 2.08% if redeemed in merchandise, or 1.66% if redeemed in cash (R. 176).

This system has been popularized in thirty-nine states (R. 174); and has been licensed in Utah since 1914 (R. 179). At the time of the trial there were some 30,000 licensees in the United States, of which 197 were in Utah and 11,397 in the eight western states of Arizona, California, Colorado, Idaho, Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon and Washington (R. 180).

The advantages which a retail merchant derives from operating on a cash basis are obvious:

(a) He is spared the expense of extending credit to his customers: his capital is not tied up, neither does he have to pay interest on borrowed capital (R. 142-143; 187);

(b) He can save money on his own purchases by paying cash to his suppliers and enjoying the consequent discounts (R. 143);

(c) He avoids losses on bad debts (R. 143; 187);

(d) He minimizes his bookkeeping expense and thus reduces his overhead (R. 187; 190);

(e) He cuts his delivery cost because cash customers carry their own purchases (R. 190);

(f) Last but not least, of course, he attracts customers who are willing to trade on a cash and carry basis in order to realize the consequent savings.

It does not follow, however, that because there are advantages to the merchant in operating on a cash basis, he is getting something for nothing: the discount that he allows is the cost to him of the advantage which he enjoys. Similarly, it cannot be said that the customer who receives the discount gets something for nothing: the loss of the use of his money sooner than would otherwise be the case is the cost to him. In other words, a cash discount represents a *quid pro quo*; it is something for something, not something for nothing.

In January 1947, Mr. Bush opened a cash and carry super market at 26th Street and Quincy Avenue in Ogden, Utah, where, in November 1950, he installed the S. & H. Co-operative Cash Discount System (R. 42). Thereafter he issued to his customers one S. & H. cash discount stamp for every ten cents paid in cash for anything or everything in his store (R. 42; 48; 53). The cost of providing these stamps, Mr. Bush treated as a non-operating expense. The daily and monthly sales were recorded in his books at the prices actually paid by his customers (R. 143), and the stamps were included with other non-operating expenses which were subsequently deducted from gross sales in order to arrive at net profit (R. 197). This was a proper and appropriate method from an accounting point of view (R. 203). Pending their use, the stamps were carried in a deferred account, for control purposes, in the same fashion that prepaid insurance is customarily carried (R. 197; 200). This, too, was perfectly proper (R. 203).

Not only did Mr. Bush recognize the advantages of operating his business on a cash basis (R. 142-143) but he considered the stamps as an advertising medium (R. 51; 53; 159), a trade stimulant (R. 56; 140). His purpose in using them was to attract additional business, not from any particular competitor but, generally, from anywhere he could get it (R. 53; 224), and, in his opinion, they did attract business to his store (R. 55; 223).

In 1937, ten years before Mr. Bush went into the grocery business but many years after the S. & H. cash discount system had become established in Utah, the legislature of this state enacted an Unfair Practices Act (Title 16A, Chapter 4) to prohibit the sale of merchandise at less than "cost" (as defined in the statute) with the intent or effect of injuring competitors and destroying competition. In lieu of actual cost, however, the statute permitted the retail merchant, if he wished, to take his invoice and freight, add to it an arbitrary markup of 6% for overhead, and thus arrive at what we shall refer to as "statutory cost". At the time when Mr. Bush became a licensee of The Sperry & Hutchinson Company, in November 1950, the practice had become established in the retail grocery business in Ogden of selling certain staple items, such as soap, coffee, flour, canned milk and other volume items (R. 84), at the fixed minimum markup of 6% (R. 47). About thirty-five per cent of the so-called "dry line" of groceries were 6% items (R. 131-132). In Mr. Bush's case, which was probably typical, something like twenty-five per cent of

the volume of sales were 6% items (R. 47; 57; 84) and, since his cash discount was storewide, Mr. Bush issued S. & H. cash discount stamps with these items, just as he did with all the rest (R. 53). 95% of the 6% items originated outside of the State of Utah (R. 132).

Upon the theory that the effect of the stamps was to reduce the price of the 6% items below cost, the Trade Commission of Utah ordered Mr. Bush to cease and desist issuing stamps with such items (R. 1), and, when he refused, instituted the present action to compel him to desist.

For an understanding of the nature of the controversy, these, we believe, are all the facts that are required. There are others to which we shall presently refer in the belief that they may prove helpful in resolving the issues, and still others which, we think, merely color and becloud the issues.

## THE UNFAIR PRACTICES ACT

The Unfair Practices Act (Title 16A, Chapter 4, Utah Code Annotated 1943) was enacted in 1937 and provides, in part, as follows:

“16A-4-7. *Sales, less than cost.*—(a) It shall be unlawful for any person \* \* \* to sell \* \* \* any article \* \* \* at less than the cost thereof to such vendor \* \* \* for the purpose of injuring competitors and destroying competition \* \* \* or when the effect of selling \* \* \* at less than cost

\* \* \* may be substantially to lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in any line of commerce; and he \* \* \* shall also be guilty of a misdemeanor, and on conviction thereof shall be subject to the penalties [fine or imprisonment, or both] set out in section 15 of this act for any such act."

"*Cost defined:* \* \* \* 3. When used in this act, the term 'cost to the retailer' shall mean the invoice cost of the merchandise to the retailer within thirty days prior to the date of sale, or the date of offering for sale, or the replacement cost of the merchandise to the retailer, whichever is lower; less all trade discounts except customary discounts for cash; to which shall be added: (a) freight charges [if incurred] \* \* \*, and (b) cartage [if incurred] \* \* \*, and (c) a markup to cover a proportionate part of the cost of doing business, which markup, in the absence of proof of a lesser cost, shall be six per cent of the cost to the retailer as herein set forth after adding thereto freight charges and cartage \* \* \*."

\* \* \* \*

"16A-4-9. *Transactions involving more than one item.*—For the purpose of preventing evasion of the provisions of this act in all sales involving more than one item or commodity and in all sales involving the giving of any concession of any kind whatsoever (whether it be coupons or otherwise) the vendor's or distributor's selling price shall not be below the cost of all articles, products, commodities and concessions included in such transactions."

\* \* \* \*

“16A-4-12. *Sales exempt from act.*—The provisions of this act shall not apply to any sales made:

- (a) In closing out \* \* \* stock \* \* \*;
- (b) When the goods are damaged \* \* \*;
- (c) By an officer \* \* \* of any court;
- (d) In an endeavor made in good faith to meet the legal prices of a competitor as herein defined selling the same article, product or commodity in the same locality or trade area. \* \* \*.”

\* \* \* \*

“16A-4-17. *Policy of Act.*—The legislature declared that the purpose of this act is to safeguard the public against the creation or perpetuation of monopolies and to foster and encourage competition, by prohibiting unfair and discriminatory practices by which fair and honest competition is destroyed or prevented. This act shall be liberally construed that its beneficial purposes may be subserved.”

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I—Plaintiffs failed to make out a *prima facie* case because they did not prove that defendant sold any merchandise *below* cost, whether actual or statutory, but only that defendant sold merchandise *at* statutory cost. We say this because the merchandise was marked up six per cent as required by the Act, and

- (a) The stamps, being an element of costs, would have to be included in any computation of a



markup to cover actual costs and should, for that reason, be covered by the statutory markup of six per cent which the statute permits in lieu of actual costs;

- (b) The cost of providing stamps should be treated in the case of the cash and carry merchant as the cost of providing credit is treated in the case of the credit and delivery merchant: if the statutory markup of six per cent covers the one, it should cover the other; the markup is not selective; and was not intended to be applied in a discriminatory manner;
- (c) The Act specifically provides (16A-4-9) that the retailer's cost shall be calculated on the basis of the total purchase, not on the basis of each item in the purchase;
- (d) The sale of six per cent items alone is such a rare event that if it should violate the statute to issue stamps on such an occasion, the law would not be concerned with such a trifle (*de minimis non curat lex*);

POINT II—Plaintiffs failed to make out a *prima facie* case because cash discounts, as distinguished from trade discounts, do not reduce prices.

POINT III—Plaintiffs failed to make out a *prima facie* case because they did not prove that defendant made any sales “for the purpose of injuring competitors and destroying competition.” We say this because,

- (a) Defendant's intent was only to attract cash business generally; to meet competition, not to injure his competitors and destroy competition;

- (b) Defendant cannot be held to have intended to incite price cuts or a price war, nor can he be held responsible for the acts of his competitors, legal or illegal; and
- (c) Plaintiffs failed to carry the burden of proving that defendant issued S. & H. cash discount stamps for the purpose of injuring his competitors and destroying competition.

POINT IV—The Unfair Practices Act is unconstitutional because it violates the equal protective and due process clauses of the Federal Constitution and the corresponding sections (Article I, secs. 1 & 7) of the State Constitution.

- (a) The Act, if construed to cover *all* of the costs of the credit and delivery merchant but only *some* of the costs of the cash and carry merchant, is unconstitutional.
- (b) If a cash discount is an element of price rather than cost, the Act is unconstitutional because it makes no allowance for the difference in the overhead of the cash and carry merchant as compared with the overhead of the credit and delivery merchant.
- (c) The Act, if construed only to prohibit the use of S. & H. cash discount stamps is unconstitutional because it discriminates against a legitimate business.
- (d) The Act, if construed to permit conviction upon proof, in the alternative, of a wrongful intent or a harmful effect, is unconstitutional.
- (e) The Act is unconstitutional in any event because it is so vague and indefinite that the retail mer-

chant is unable to ascertain when he is violating the law and, consequently, exposing himself to conviction of a misdemeanor and running the risk of a fine, imprisonment, and liability for civil damages.

POINT V—The Retail Grocers Association which is the real party-plaintiff in this action has been guilty of price fixing in violation of the Sherman Act and, accordingly, comes to Court with unclean hands, and for that reason should be denied injunctive relief, for the Unfair Practices Act does not, and could not, authorize price fixing.

## ARGUMENT

POINT I — PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO MAKE OUT A *PRIMA FACIE* CASE BECAUSE THEY DID NOT PROVE THAT DEFENDANT SOLD ANY MERCHANDISE *BELOW* COST, WHETHER ACTUAL OR STATUTORY, BUT ONLY THAT DEFENDANT SOLD MERCHANDISE *AT* STATUTORY COST.

Plaintiffs rest their case on the fact, to which defendant stipulated, that Mr. Bush issued S. & H. cash discount stamps with merchandise sold at statutory cost (invoice or replacement cost, plus freight, plus cartage, plus six per cent). There was no charge and no evidence that he allowed any special discounts on these or any other items, for the fact is that he allowed the same discount on everything in his store that was purchased for cash. Neither was there any charge that these items were “loss leaders”. No attempt was made to show that

Mr. Bush received less than it cost him to acquire and handle the articles in question.

The sole question for decision is whether it was legal for Mr. Bush to issue S. & H. cash discount stamps with merchandise marked up six per cent. The Trade Commission contended and the Lower Court found that it was not legal (R. 21); we respectfully submit that it was perfectly legal.

We shall consider this question first from the point of view of cost, for the emphasis in section 16A-4-7 with which we are concerned in this case is on *cost*, rather than price: the charge is that Mr. Bush sold below cost, not that he cut prices. Like the California Unfair Practices Act, upon which it is modeled, the Utah Unfair Practices Act is not a price fixing statute. *Food and Grocery Bureau v. United States*, 139 F. 2d 937 (C. C. A. 9th 1943). However, we shall also consider the question from the point of view of price, for that is the way the Commission seems to look at the case.

In all that follows, we ask the Court to bear in mind that the statute is not only restrictive in a field which had been traditionally free, but that it carries criminal sanctions in the event of violation. Accordingly, unless the statute clearly indicates that certain conduct is illegal, it is manifest that no Court should incline towards finding it so as a matter of statutory construction. See: *United States v. Capital Traction Co.*, 34 App. D.C. 592; 19 Ann. Cas. 68.

We also ask the Court to bear in mind that, “to give a discount for cash payments is a long established mercantile practice. The manufacturer allows such discount to the jobber and wholesaler, and the jobber and wholesaler, to the retailer. To pass this on to the customer of the retailer is but providing a benefit to him who, in the last analysis, pays all the bills.” (*The Sperry and Hutchinson Company v. Hudson*, 190 Ore. 458, 465, 226 P. 2d 501, 504 (1951)). Under the Lower Court’s interpretation, the retailer can receive but he cannot allow cash discounts on 6% items and thus the ultimate consumer “who, in the last analysis, pays all the bills” is deprived of a benefit which is available to everyone else in the chain of commerce. So far as we can see, this was never the intention of the Act and there is no legislative sanction for such an unfair and discriminatory result.

The average family lives on a fixed or fairly fixed income. The housewife knows within predictable limits the amount of money available to her to purchase the family necessities: such things as clothing, drugs, food, and the many other items of every day consumption. Through the use of S. & H. stamps, it is possible to provide a discount on all of these things for the benefit of the careful housewife who makes her purchases in cash. If such cash discount stamps are now to be outlawed, this avenue of thrift will be closed to her.

With these thoughts in mind, let us now consider whether the plaintiffs made out a *prima facie* case to

support their charge that defendant sold merchandise below cost in violation of the Act.

- (a) *The stamps, being an element of costs, would have to be included in any computation of a markup to cover actual costs and should, for that reason, be covered by the statutory markup of six per cent which the statute permits in lieu of actual costs.*

It is quite undeniable that the stamps were an element of Mr. Bush's cost of doing business. He considered them in the nature of advertising and his books showed that they were recorded as a financial expense (R. 143-144; 197). According to one of our most prominent certified public accountants, Mr. Lincoln G. Kelley, this was an appropriate and customary way to record them (R. 189).

Under the Act, Mr. Bush had a choice: he could sell his merchandise at actual cost or at statutory cost. His choice was free. It made no difference whether the actual cost was higher or lower than the statutory cost. He could take either one but he could not go below the lower of the two. The actual markup and the statutory markup were intended for the same purpose: to cover his cost of acquisition and "a proportional part of the cost of doing business".

Now, it is apparent that, if Mr. Bush had elected to proceed on the basis of actual cost, he would have been compelled to count the S. & H. stamps as part of

his cost of doing business because, in fact, The Sperry and Hutchinson Company did not let him have them for nothing. That being so, it is equally apparent that if, instead, he elected to avail himself of the statutory markup of 6%, the cost of supplying the S. & H. stamps would be covered by that markup, for that is exactly what the Act provides. It requires the merchant to add to his costs of acquisition "a markup to cover a proportionate part of the cost of doing business." Stamps were a part of defendant's cost of doing business, and were therefore covered by the markup. The markup "in the absence of proof of a lesser cost, shall be six percent". Mr. Bush marked up the items six percent and thereby satisfied the statutory requirements.

Just as Mr. Bush would have had no right to exclude the stamps in computing his *actual* costs, the Commission had no authority, no logical reason, to exclude them from his *statutory* costs.

To find that Mr. Bush did not meet the statutory requirements, one must read something into the Act which plainly is not there and was never intended to be there: viz., that the statutory markup is selective, that it covers everything but the stamps. Not only will one search the statute in vain for any inference or intimation which would justify such a course but it is apparent that such a course would do violence to the statute. The statutory scheme is to take either the actual cost of doing business or to pay no attention to actual cost and adopt an arbi-

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