1952

Trade Commission of Utah, Utah Retail Grocers Association and George Ingalls v. James L. Bush : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Appellant cites *Florida Dry Cleaning and Laundry Board v. Everglades Laundry*, 137 Fla. 290, 188 So. 380; *Serrer v. Cigarette Service Co.*, 148 Ohio 519, 76 NE 2d 91; and, *Cohen v. Frey & Sons, Inc.*, MD., 80 A2d 267 to support his assertion that the Utah statute is unconstitutional because it purportedly fails to recognize cost differentials between the "cost and carry" and the "credit and delivery" types of businesses. The cited cases are not in point here, however, because in each of those cases the courts were dealing with the definition of cost to the wholesaler rather than cost to the retailer. Furthermore, in *Florida Dry Cleaning and Laundry*

Board v. Everglades Laundry, *supra*, the court was dealing with a schedule of prices fixed by a board rather than a markup prescribed by statute. Moreover, while the Supreme Court of Ohio made no reference to the definition of cost to the retailer in its opinion in the *Serrer v. Cigarette Service Co.* case, *supra*, the Court of Common Pleas (74 NE 2d 841), affirmed by the Supreme Court of Ohio, did approve the definition of cost to the retailer contained in the Ohio statute when it said:

* * * * It may not be inappropriate to remark that unlike the definition of "cost to the wholesaler" the statutory presumptive markup does not cover a retailer's cost except in cases where the actual cost of doing business is undeterminable or equal to 6%. In all other cases a retailer's markup corresponds to the actual cost of doing business whether it be higher or less than the presumptive 6%.

A further distinguishing feature referred to by the court in striking down the statute in the *Cohen v. Frey & Sons, Inc.*, case, *supra*, was the statutory presumption of guilt which is not present in the Utah statute. On the other hand, numerous courts have upheld the constitutionality of such statutes where the definition of cost contained therein was remarkably similar to the definition of cost contained in the Utah statute. See *People v. Gordon et al.*, 105 Cal App 2d 711, 234 P2d 287; *People v. Pay Less Drug Stores, et al*, 25 Cal 2d 108, 153 P2d 9; *May's Drug Stores v. State Tax Commission*, Iowa, 45 NW2d 245; *Old Homestead Bread Co. et al v. Marx Baking Co.*, 108 Colo. 375, 117 P2d 1007; *State ex rel Anderson, County Attorney, v. Commercial Candy Co. Inc., et al.*, 166 Kan. 432, 201 P2d 1034; *Kentucky Utilities Co. v.*

Carlisle Ice Co., 279 Ky. 585, 131 SW 2d 499; Louisiana Wholesaler Distributors Ass'n. v. Rosenzweig, 214 La. 1, 36 So. 2d 403; McElhone v. Geror, 207 Minn. 580, 292 NW 414; Hill et al. v. Kusy, 150 Neb. 653, 35 NW2d 594; McIntire v. Borofsky, 95 N.H. 174, 59 A2d 471; Adwon v. Oklahoma Retail Grocers Ass'n. Inc., 204 Okla. 199, 228 P 2d 376; Rust v. Griggs, 172 Tenn. 565, 113 SW2d 733; State v. Sears, 4 Wash. 2d 200, 103 P2d 337; State v. Twentieth Century Markets, 236 Wis. 215, 294 NW 873; and State v. Langley, 53 Wyo. 332, 84 P2d 767.

Appellant's assertion that if the Utah statute is construed to prohibit only S & H cash discount stamps, it is unconstitutional because it discriminates against a legitimate business, is another specious attempt to mislead and confuse the court. The Utah statute *does not* prohibit the use of S & H cash discount stamps. The Utah statute only prohibits their use for an unlawful purpose. It prohibits their issuance with the sale of merchandise where the effect is to reduce the price of the merchandise below cost for the purpose of injuring competitors and destroying competition or where the effect thereof may be substantially to lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly. The prohibition of the statute is leveled not only at S & H cash discounts but cash discounts in any form when, and only when, the amount of the cash discount reduces the selling price of the merchandise below cost in violation of the statute. A merchant may issue cash discounts by means of S & H green stamps or any other means so long as the selling price of the merchandise is not thereby reduced below cost in violation of the statute. However, he may not do indirectly what the law prohibits him from doing directly.

Designating the issuance of S & H cash discounts or any other form of cash discounts something other than what they actually are does not clothe the practice with judicial protection if the practice contravenes the express provisions of a statute. As pointed out by the New York Court of Appeals in the case of *Bristol-Meyers Co. v. Picker, et al*, 302 New York 61, 96 NE2d 177:

* * * No matter how one puts it, the consumer who is accorded a cash discount in reality pays that much less for the article which he purchases, and this is none the less true because the return is by way of merchandise rather than coin which may purchase merchandise. * * *

Appellant also challenges the validity of the Utah statute if it is construed to permit conviction upon proof in the alternative of a wrongful intent or a harmful effect. The challenged section is Section 16A-4-7, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as amended by Chapter 21, Laws of 1951, which provides in part as follows:

It shall be unlawful * * * to sell * * any article * * * at less than the cost thereof * * * for the purpose of injuring competitors and destroying competition, or of misleading the public, or when the effect of selling * * * at less than cost * * * may be substantially to lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly. * * *

It is true that many statutes prohibiting sales below cost do require a wrongful intent to injure competitors or destroy competition as an essential element of a violation. On the other hand, where the language of the statute does not expressly

require a wrongful intent as an essential element of the offense, courts have, by judicial construction, read that element into the statute. Thus in *Arizona v. Walgreen Drug Co.*, 57 Ariz. 308, 113 P.2d 650, where the statute prohibited sales below cost "with the intent or effect" of injuring competitors or destroying competition the court said:

We consider then the objection that the chapter imposes both civil and penal liability upon one who violates its provisions without any criminal intent. Upon a careful examination of section 3, *supra*, which states what constitutes a violation of the chapter, we think that while it is not explicitly stated therein that the particular thing done must be done with a criminal intent, the only reasonable implication from the entire language of the chapter is that such intent is an essential ingredient of a violation thereof. A similar construction has been given to statutes which fail as does ours, explicitly to require the criminal intent. *People v. Kahn*, 19 Cal. App. Supp. 2d 758, 60 P.2d 596; *Omaechevarria v. Idaho*, 246 U.S. 343, 38 S. Ct. 323, 62 L.Ed. 763.

See also *Hill et al v. Kusy*, 150 Neb. 653, 35 NW 2d 594; *Rust v. Griggs*, 172 Tenn. 565, 113 SW 2d 733; *Old Homestead Bread Co. v. Marx Baking Co.*, 108 Colo. 375, 117 P. 2d 1007; *Acme Dstb. Co. v. Thoni*, Tenn. 136 SW 2d 734.

In the case of *Commonwealth v. Zasloff*, 338 Pa. 457, 13 A. 2d 67, 128 A.L.R. 1120, the court said:

* * * if the Act confined itself to prohibiting sales below cost when intended to destroy competition, it would undoubtedly be valid, as has been held in various

jurisdictions where such acts have been enacted with that qualification. *State v. Central Lumber Co.*, 24 SD 136, 123 NW 504, 42 LRA (NS) 804, affirmed 226 U.S. 157, 33 S Ct 66, 57 L.Ed 164; *People v. Kahn*, 19 Cal App Supp (2d) 758, 60 P (2d) 596; *Wholesale Tobacco Dealers Bureau v. National Candy & Tobacco Co.*, 11 Cal (2d) 634, 82 P(2d) 3, 118 ALR 486; *State v. Langley*, 53 Wyo. 332, 84 P(2d) 767; *Associated Merchants v. Ormesher*, 107 Mont. 530, 86 P(2d) 1031; *Rust v. Griggs*, 172 Tenn. 565, 113 SW (2d) 733; *Hammond v. Bayless Markets, Inc.*, Arizona Superior Ct., Prentice-Hall Fed. Trade & Ind. Serv. (2d ed) 96. 632. * * *

The only case cited by appellant where a statute prohibiting sales below cost was invalidated because it contained the words "or effect" after the phrase "with intent" as does the Utah statute is *Englebrecht v. Day*, 201 Okla. 585, 208 P 2d 538. In that case, certain trade practices were declared by one section of the statute to be in contravention of the public policy of the state and made a crime by another section of the statute. The statute was invalidated because the court held that to strike out any part of the section which declared the public policy worked a change of that policy so as to defeat the basis for declaring the prohibited trade practices a crime. The reasoning of the court in invalidating the Oklahoma statute would not be applicable in determining the constitutionality of the Utah statute, however, because to strike out those words in the Utah statute would not work any change in the declared policy of the Utah statute.

It is to be noted moreover that the Supreme Court of the United States as well as the highest courts of various states has upheld the constitutionality of statutes prohibiting the sell-

ing of merchandise below a fixed price regardless of intent. In the case of *Nebbia v. New York*, 291 U.S. 502, 78 L.Ed. 940, 54 S. Ct. 505, 89 ALR 1469, the applicable statute provided in part as follows:

* * * it shall be unlawful for a milk dealer to sell or buy or offer to sell or buy milk *at any price less or more than such price* * * * (the price fixed by the board). (Emphasis added.)

In upholding the validity of the statute the Supreme Court said:

Legislation concerning sales of goods, and incidentally affecting prices, has repeatedly been held valid. In this class fall laws forbidding unfair competition by the charging of lower prices in one locality than those exacted in another, by giving trade inducements to purchasers, and by other forms of price discrimination. The public policy with respect to free competition has engendered state and federal statutes prohibiting monopolies, which have been upheld.

* * * * *

* * * there can be no doubt that upon proper occasion and by appropriate measures the state may regulate a business in any of its aspects, including the prices to be charged for the products or commodities it sells.

In sustaining the validity of a Minnesota statute which prohibited sales below cost "for the purpose of or with the effect of" injuring competitors and destroying competition as not objectionable on constitutional grounds, the Supreme Court of Minnesota, in the case of *McElhone v. Gregor*, 207 Minn. 580, 292 NW 414, said:

The present statute prohibits sales at less than cost for the purpose or with the effect of injuring competitors and destroying competition. *Intent to injure is not essential to violation. This is not fatal to the act. Sales below cost which have the effect of injuring competition may be prohibited regardless of intent.* (Emphasis added.)

* * * * *

The legislature is attempting to protect retailers and the public from unfair trade practices. It is not for us to deny its conclusions of fact that sales below cost are harmful and constitute a trade practice so unfair and injurious as to require legislative attention. The act declares and implements valid policy. We cannot say that the implementation bears no relation to the purpose. So, whatever its interference with plaintiff's freedom of contract, the statute transgresses no constitutional guaranty, unless in other respects it is arbitrary or unreasonable. The police power, which is about all the power that sovereign government has, aside from its power of eminent domain and taxation, is not limited to protection of public health, morals, and safety. It extends also to "economic needs." *Veix v. Sixth Ward Bldg. & Loan Ass'n.*, 60 S. Ct. 792, 84 L.Ed. (opinion filed April 22, 1940). Therefore, it may protect from economic harm.

The constitutionality of the Unfair Sales Act of the State of New Hampshire making it a misdemeanor to sell below cost "with intent or effect of injuring competitors" was also upheld by the Supreme Court of New Hampshire in *McIntire v. Borofsky*, 95 NH 174, 59 A2d 47. In that case the court said:

* * * Similar phraseology is found in several of the Unfair Sales Acts of the other states. 1 *Callmann, Unfair Competition & Trade Marks* (1945) Sec. 27,

2(a). *It is well settled in this jurisdiction that the Legislature may declare an act criminal without requiring that it be done with intent.* State v. Cornish, 66 N.H. 329, 21 A. 180, 11 L.R.A. 191; State v. Ryan, 70 N.H. 196, 46 A. 49, 85 Am. St. Rep. 629; State v. Goonan, 89 N.H. 528, 3 A2d 105; State v. Yosua, 91 N.H. 181, 16 A2d 370. In case of doubt the statute has frequently been construed to require intent (Coutremarsh v. Metcalf, 87 N.H. 127, 175 A. 173), but it is clear that the present statute by its express terms requires either the intent or the effect of injuring or destroying competition. The Legislature deemed it necessary to do more than condemn a state of mind and provided that sales below cost, except as provided in Sec. 3, are an economic evil whether they are intended or have the effect of injuring competition. Such a statute is valid. McElhone v. Geror, 207 Minn. 580, 292 N.W. 414; Rust v. Griggs, 172 Tenn. 565, 113 S.W. 2d 733. Cf Corn Products Refining Co. v. Federal Trade Commission, 324 U.S. 726, 65 S. Ct. 961, 89 L. Ed. 1320; State v. Tankar Gas, Inc., 250 Wis. 218, 26 N.W. 2d 647. (Emphasis added.)

See also Mays Drug Stores v. State Tax Commission, Iowa, 45 NW 2d 245.

Appellant also attempt to establish invalidity of the Utah statute by comparing it with other statutes which were struck down because in defining "cost" they were held to be so vague and indefinite that the retail merchant was unable to ascertain when he was violating the law. A careful analysis of the statutes which were invalidated for that reason, however, shows that those statutes were entirely different from the Utah statute. State v. Packard Bamberger Co., 123 N.J.L. 202, 8 A2d 291; Commonwealth v. Zasloff, 338 Pa. 457, 13 A2d 67,

128 ALR 1120; *State v. Walgreen Drug Co.*, 57 Ariz. 308, 113 P2d 650; and, *Daniel Loughran Co. v. Lord Baltimore Candy & T. Co.*, 178 Md. 38, 12 A2d 201, cited by appellant, are not in point because in each of those cases the definition of cost was linked to such phrases as "prevailing market conditions," "existing market conditions" or the "most favorable market prices available." None of those phrases are present in the applicable section of the Utah statute. In the case of *Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Co. v. Ervin*, 23 F. Supp. 70, the court struck down a Minnesota statute because it required a merchant making purchases from a manufacturer who published a list price to use the list price as his cost regardless of whether or not it represented the merchant's actual cost. There is no such arbitrary requirement in the Utah statute. *Florida Dry Cleaning and Laundry Board v. Everglades Laundry*, 137 Fla. 290, 188 So. 380, is not in point because it dealt with cost to the wholesaler rather than cost to the retailer and also with a schedules of prices fixed by a board rather than a statutory markup prescribed by the Legislature. The case of *Cohen v. Frey & Sons, Inc.*, 80 A2d (Md. 1951), cited by appellant, cannot even be persuasive authority for invalidating the Utah statute because in the Maryland statute there was a presumption of guilt provision not present in the Utah statute and also because the trial court there rejected an attempt on the part of the defendant to establish a lesser cost. The Utah statute expressly authorizes a lesser cost where it can be established in lieu of the statutory markup.

Finally, appellant attempts to avoid the real issue involved in this dispute, which is whether he violated the Utah Unfair Practices Act, by making the assertion that the Retail Grocers'

Association was guilty of price fixing in violation of the Sherman Act.

The record shows conclusively that this was not an action commenced by the Retail Grocers' Association but an action commenced by the Trade Commission of Utah to enjoin the appellant herein from violating the provisions of the Utah Unfair Practices Act and *in which action the Retail Grocers' Association intervened upon stipulation of both parties.* (Emphasis added.) Enforcement of the provisions of the Utah Unfair Practices Act is a duty enjoined by law upon the Trade Commission of Utah. Section 16A-2-13, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, provides:

It shall be the duty of the commission, and it shall have full power, jurisdiction and authority:

(1) To prescribe rules and regulations not in conflict with the constitution and laws of this state for its own government and the transaction of its business.

(2) To have and exercise general supervision over the administration of chapters 20 and 21, Laws of Utah, 1937, as amended.

(3) To collect, collate, and publish statistical and other information relating to trade and business that is material to the enforcement of this act.

(4) To cooperate with and assist any trade or industry desiring to effectuate an agreement between its members for the purpose of stabilizing employment in the trade or industry and correcting unfair practices between competitors.

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